
KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
MEETING DATE: Thursday, April 27, 2023
PLACE OF MEETING: 201 W. Kalamazoo Ave. Kalamazoo, MI 49007 Room 207-A
TIME: 3:00 pm

AGENDA

Please click the link below to join the webinar: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83067831644  
Or One tap mobile :  
    US: +16465588656,,83067831644#  or +16469313860,,83067831644# 
Webinar ID: 830 678 31644 

1. Call to Order: 3:00

2. Roll Call and Members Excused:

3. Approval of the Agenda:

4. Approval of Minutes: BRA Minutes of March 23, 2023

5. Public Comments: (4 minutes each)

6. Consent Agenda: – Invoices
a. From General 243 Fund:

i. $23,755.38 – FY23Q1 Admin invoice for Planning Department
ii. $31.50 – J.B. Printing Invoice 55221 (Walters Business Cards)
iii. $24.56 – Walters Travel Invoice to The Mill at Vicksburg (4/7/2023)
iv. $1,174.00 – Varnum Invoice #1191267

b. From EPA Grant Fund:
i. $945.75 – Fishbeck invoice 422260 (WO#6 Parchment Mill Site #2)

c. Project Business:
i. Vicksburg Mill – Paper City Development, LLC

1. $1,057.43 – FY23Q2 (state FY) EGLE Admin invoice ($890.15 Grant &
$167.28 Loan)

2. $28.75 – Fishbeck invoice 422268 (EGLE Loan)
3. Authorization to submit FY23Q2 (state FY) EGLE Grant & Loan

Quarterly Reports

7. Discussion and/or Action Calendar:
a. Discussion/Action: 615 W Kalamazoo Ave Invoice Packet to City BRA

b. Discussion/Action: Watershed Project, LLC Project Applications
i. Project Application Part I



 

ii. Project Application Part II
iii. Fishbeck Work Order #7 EPA Grant – Watershed Project, LLC

c. Discussion/Action: Comstock Township Project Applications
i. Project Application Part I
ii. Project Application Part II
iii. Fishbeck Work Order #8 EPA Grant – Comstock Center Redevelopment

d. Discussion/Action: Midlink Expansion
i. Project Application Part II
ii. Fishbeck Work Order #10 EPA Grant – Midlink Expansion

e. Discussion/Action: Clarklogic 555 Eliza St. Expansion
i. Project Application Part II
ii. Fishbeck Work Order #9 EPA Grant – 555 Eliza Street Expansion

f. Discussion/Action: KCBRA Board Retreat 

g. Discussion/Action: 2023 National Brownfields Conference – Detroit, MI
i. $1,400.00 - Walters Registration & Fees
ii. $1,400.00 – Grover Registration & Fees
iii. $500 for KCBRA Board Members (up to 3 members)

h. Discussion/Action: Fishbeck

i. General Environmental Contract Memo & Summary

ii. EPA Grant Contract Memo & Summary

8. Financial Reports:
a. Discussion: Fund 243 (247), 242 (643), and FY23Q1 Report

9. Staff Report/Updates:
a. Brownfields 101 for Southwest Michigan First Virtual Legislation Event 3/27/2023
b. National Brownfields Conference – Fishbeck Parchment Mill Presentation 8/10/2023
c. 2023 Outreach & Marketing (Update)

10.Committees - times dates and places:
b. Land Bank Report – next meeting, May 11, 2023, 8:30 a.m.
c. Project/Finance Committee – Thursday, May 11, 2023, 4:00 p.m.
d. Executive Committee – Friday, May 12, 2023, 9:15 a.m.

11.Other:

12.Board Member Comments:



 

13.Adjournment:

Next Meeting: on Thursday, May 25, 2023 at 3:00 p.m.
Room 207a, County Admin Bldg - Or alternatively, held electronically or via 

teleconference.  Please see the KCBRA website at www.kalcountybrownfield.com for
electronic meeting notice and instructions

BOARD MEMBERS:
PLEASE CALL 384-8305 OR EMAIL MRWALT@KALCOUNTY.COM

IF YOU ARE UNABLE TO ATTEND THE MEETING
Meetings of the Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority are open to all 
without regard to race, sex, color, age, national origin, religion, height, weight, marital status, 
political affiliation, sexual orientation, gender identity, or disability.  The Kalamazoo County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority will provide necessary reasonable auxiliary aids and 
services, such as signers for the hearing impaired and audio tapes of printed materials being 
considered at the meeting, to individuals with disabilities at the meeting upon four (4) 
business days’ notice to the Kalamazoo County BRA.  Individuals with disabilities requiring 
auxiliary aids or services should contact the Kalamazoo County BRA by writing or calling:

Macy Rose Walters
Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator
Kalamazoo County Government
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49007 TELEPHONE:  (269) 384-8305



KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
MEETING DATE: Thursday, March 23, 2023
PLACE OF MEETING: 201 W. Kalamazoo Ave. Kalamazoo, MI 49007 Room 207-A
TIME: 3:00 pm

DRAFT - MINUTES 

Present: Gary Barton, Connie Ferguson, Jodi Milks, Jared Lutz, Monteze Morales, and
Andrew Wenzel
Members Excused: Kenneth Peregon, Christopher Carew, and Wei Wang
Vacancies: none
Kalamazoo Township: Steven Leuty
Oshtemo Township: Iris Lubbert
Staff: Rachael Grover, Macy Rose Walters
Consultant: Jeff Hawkins, Fishbeck
Recording Secretary: Macy Rose Walters
County Commissioners: Monteze Morales
County Admin: Lyndi Warner, Deputy County Administrator for External Services
Community: 2

1. Call to Order: Vice Chair Barton called the meeting to order at 3:07 p.m. and noted
that the meeting is being recorded.

2. Roll Call and Members Excused Kenneth Peregon, Christopher Carew, and Wei Wang
were excused. Jodi Milks was excused at 4:15 p.m.

3. Approval of the Agenda Vice Chair Barton removed item 7ji2 Fishbeck invoice 420294
and added item 7ji4 Fishbeck invoice 421464 to the Agenda. Milks motioned to
approve the agenda as amended, Wenzel seconded. A roll call vote was taken, the
motion carried with 6 Yes and none opposed.

4. Approval of Minutes: BRA Minutes of January 26, 2023

Ferguson stated the correct year within the minutes and to suggested replacing the
word continent in item 7aiii to contingent. Ferguson motioned to approve the minutes
as amended, Milks seconded. None opposed, motion carried.

5. Public Comments (4 minutes each) None

6. Consent Agenda – Invoices
a. From General 242 Fund:

i. $ 160.00 – Fishbeck Invoice 420292 (WO 2023-1 Gen. Environmental)
ii. $ 630.00 – Fishbeck Invoice 421238 (WO 2023-1 Gen. Environmental)



 

 

b. From EPA Grant Fund: 
i. $115.95 – Fishbeck Invoice 420293 (WO#6 Parchment Mill Site #2)
ii. $ 189.15 – Fishbeck Invoice 420295 (WO#2 Outreach & Programmatic)
iii. $ 573.53 – Fishbeck Invoice 421241 (WO#6 Parchment Mill Site #2)
iv. $ 66.05 – Fishbeck Invoice 421240 (WO#2 Outreach & Programmatic)

Wenzel motioned to approve item 6, the Consent Agenda, as presented, Lutz 
seconded. None opposed, motion carried.

7. Discussion and/or Action Calendar
a. Discussion/Action: KALSEE Credit Union Development Agreement

Lutz motioned to approve item 7a, as presented, authorizing the Chair to sign and 
execute the Agreement. Ferguson seconded. A roll call vote was taken, the motion 
carried with 5 Yes and Milks Abstained. 

b. Discussion/Action: 2023 Budget Adjustment 

Wenzel motioned to approve item 7b as presented, Milks seconded. None 
opposed, motion carried.

c. Discussion/Action: Admin Invoices from KCBRA to Developers

i. $ 5,480.00 IPUSA 2022 Admin Charges (Legal Fees)

Lutz motioned to approve item 7c, authorizing staff to invoice the IPUSA project 
for 2022 admin costs, accrued prior to brownfield plan completion. Wenzel 
seconded. None opposed, motion carried.

d. Discussion/Action: Admin Charges to Reimbursement Analyses 

i. $ 5,212.50 100 Island Ave (2021) 

ii. $ 992.00 Vicksburg Mill (2021)

iii. $ 3,581.50 Vicksburg Mill (2022)

Milks motioned to approve item 7d, authorizing staff to invoice project accounts 
for administrative & legal fees accrued during 2021 and 2022. Ferguson seconded. 
None opposed, motion carried.



 

 

e. Discussion/Action: 2022 Administrative Cost Allocations

Wenzel motioned to approve item 7e as presented, Milks seconded. None 
opposed, motion carried.

f. Discussion/Action: Updated KCBRA Project Application

Ferguson motioned to approve item 7f as presented, Lutz seconded. None 
opposed, motion carried.

g. Discussion/Action: LBRF Investment Discussion (No action)

h. Discussion/Action:  Vicksburg Mill – Paper City Development, LLC
i. $ 28.75 – Fishbeck Invoice 421239 (EGLE Grant)
ii. $ 747.50 – Reimbursement to Paper City for 1st Quarter FY 23 Loan

(Pending Proof of Payment and Lien, EGLE Approved 1/30/23)
Milks motioned to approve item(s) 7hi as presented and approve item 7hii pending 
proof of payment and lien waiver. Wenzel seconded. None opposed, motion 
carried.

i. Discussion/Action: Selection Committees (April 27, 2023 Annual Meeting) 
i. Volunteers for Nomination Committee (no action)

j. Discussion/Action: Fishbeck
i. EPA Grant Contract

1. Work Order No. 5, Amendment No. 2 – NACD Ransom & North

Lutz motioned to approve item 7ji1 as presented, milks seconded. A roll call vote     
was taken, the motion carried with 6 Yes and None opposed.

2. $ 25,009.52 – Fishbeck Invoice 420294 (WO#5 NACD)

3. EPA Grant Memo & Summary

4. $ 25,002.47 – Fishbeck invoice 421464 (WO#5 NACD)



 

 

Milks motioned to approve item 7ji4 as presented, Wenzel seconded. None 
opposed, motion carried.

ii. General Environmental Contract Memo & Summary

8. Financial Reports
a. Discussion: Fund 243 (247), 242 (643), and 2022 Q4 Report

Staff presented the financial reports.

9. Staff Report/Updates
a. KALSEE Credit Union Brownfield Plan (Update) 
b. KCBRA Board Retreat for LBRF 
c. 2023 National Brownfields Conference (Presentation Submittals)
d. 2023 Marketing & Outreach Events (Update)
e. KCBRA Feature in BOC Newsletter
f. 3800 Wynn Rd (Update)

10.Committees - times dates and places
a. Land Bank Report – April 13, 2023 at 8:30 a.m.
b. Project/Finance Committee – Thursday, April 13, 2023, 4:00 p.m.
c. Executive Committee – Friday, April 14, 2023 9:15 a.m. 

11.Other

12.Board Member Comments 

13.Adjournment Lutz motioned to adjourn; Wenzel seconded. None opposed, meeting 
adjourned at 4:45 p.m.

Next Meeting(s): Three meetings on Thursday, April 27, 2023 at 3:00 p.m.
KCBRA Annual Meeting, then Annual Meeting of EDC, immediately after Regular Meeting 

of KCBRA
Room 207a, County Admin Bldg - Or alternatively, held electronically or via 

teleconference.  Please see the KCBRA website at www.kalcountybrownfield.com for
electronic meeting notice and instructions

BOARD MEMBERS:
PLEASE CALL 384-8305 OR EMAIL MRWALT@KALCOUNTY.COM

IF YOU ARE UNABLE TO ATTEND THE MEETING



 

 

Meetings of the Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority are open to all 
without regard to race, sex, color, age, national origin, religion, height, weight, marital status, 
political affiliation, sexual orientation, gender identity, or disability.  The Kalamazoo County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority will provide necessary reasonable auxiliary aids and 
services, such as signers for the hearing impaired and audio tapes of printed materials being 
considered at the meeting, to individuals with disabilities at the meeting upon four (4) 
business days’ notice to the Kalamazoo County BRA.  Individuals with disabilities requiring 
auxiliary aids or services should contact the Kalamazoo County BRA by writing or calling:

Macy Rose Walters
Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator
Kalamazoo County Government
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49007 TELEPHONE:  (269) 384-8305



Planning & Development Department



INVOICE

Best Way

Ship to:

Voice:(269) 349-9601
Fax: (269) 349-5314

Invoice Number: 55221
Invoice Date: Apr 7, 2023
Page:

Bill To:

County of Kalamazoo
201 W. Kalamazoo Ave.
Kalamazoo, MI 49007

Macy Walters
BRA-Planning Dept.
201 W. Kalamazoo Ave.
Kalamazoo MI 49007

Customer ID Customer PO Payment Terms

Shipping Method Ship Date
4/27/23

Due DateSales Rep ID
county Net 20 Days

1

Quantity Item Description Unit Price Amount
1.00 250 BC M Walters 31.5000 31.50

Sales Tax
Freight

31.50

31.50
Payment/Credit Applied
Total Invoice Amount

TOTAL
Check/Credit Memo No:

Subtotal 31.50

donnao@jbprinting.com

Thank you for your business!

V

Macy Walters







For Professional Services Rendered Through 3/31/2023

Current Billings 945.75

Amount Due This Bill 945.75

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

E220154 - KCBRA/Parchment Mill Site (WO 
#6)

20,000.00 945.75

Rate Labor 945.75

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 422260
Invoice Date : 4/13/2023

Project : E220154
Project Name : KCBRA/Parchment Mill Site (WO 

#6)
Bill Term : BT1

Project:   E220154 - KCBRA/Parchment Mill Site (WO #6) Invoice:   422260

CPA - Cleanup Planning Activities
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Hours Rate Amount
Senior Environmental Specialist

2.50 122.1000 305.25David Stegink
Staff Environmental Specialist

Logan Mulholland 8.75 73.2000 640.50

Total Rate Labor 945.75

Total Bill Task: CPA - Cleanup Planning Activities 945.75

Total Project:   E220154 - KCBRA/Parchment Mill Site (WO #6) 945.75



Planning & Development Department



For Professional Services Rendered Through 3/31/2023

Current Billings 28.75

Amount Due This Bill 28.75

Billings
Fee Available To Date Previous Current

E190148 - KCBRA/Paper City Development 
LLC   EGLE Loan Oversight -Task #4 - 
Vicksburg

40,000.00 0.00 28.75

Rate Labor 28.75

Attention: Macy Walters
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority
201 West Kalamazoo Avenue
Kalamazoo, MI 49008
United States

Invoice : 422268
Invoice Date : 4/17/2023

Project : E190148
Project Name : KCBRA/Paper City Development 

LLC   EGLE Loan Oversight -Task #4 
- Vicksburg

Bill Term : BT1

Project:   E190148 - KCBRA/Paper City Development LLC   EGLE Loan Oversight -Task #4 - Vicksburg Invoice:   422268

EGLE - EGLE Loan Oversight W.O. 2019-4
Rate Labor
Class / Employee Date Hours Rate Amount
Senior Geologist

Therese Searles 3/14/2023 0.25 115.0000 28.75
Update meeting with EGLE, KCBRA, Lisa Phillips and Paper City

Total Rate Labor 28.75

Total Project:   E190148 - KCBRA/Paper City Development LLC   EGLE Loan Oversight -Task #4 - Vicksburg 28.75



EQP4451 (Rev 2/23/2018)Page 1 of 2

517-284-5169, DEQBrownfields@Michigan.gov

The following information is required to receive payment for incurred costs.  This form should be separately completed for both grant 
and loan projects.  ALL PAGES OF THE FORM MUST BE PROVIDED QUARTERLY WHETHER OR NOT WORK WAS 
COMPLETED AND REIMBURSEMENT IS REQUESTED.  Fields that are calculated by the form are shown in brown.

BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 
GRANT AND LOAN QUARTERLY REPORT
AND PAYMENT REQUEST FORM

PROJECT DETAILS

Grantee / Borrower Name:Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Grant Report Loan Report

Project Name: Paper City Development, LLC Tracking Code: 2018-1323 Request #:21

Purchase Order Number: Location Code: 6705

Dates of Reporting: Begin: Jan 1, 2023 End: Mar 31, 2023 Quarter: 2 (Jan-Mar) Fiscal Year: 2023

Name of Contact Person: Ken Peregon Contract Expires On: Oct 8, 2023

Title of Contact Person: Chairperson, KCBRA Phone Number: +1 (269) 384-8305

Remittance Address: 201 West Kalamazoo Avenue

City: Kalamazoo State Michigan Zip Code: 49007

EXPENDITURES
List all expenditures for the quarter and attach invoices from contractors and subcontractors

Invoice
Number Invoice Date Vendor

Task Number 
(refer to approved 

work plan)
Amount Proof of Payment (list check 

number or other reference)

421239 Mar 16, 2023 Fishbeck

3rd Party 
Oversight

Contingency
Task 6A

 $28.75  Check# 1811

BRA-EGLE-
Q2G2023 Apr 27, 2023 Kalamazoo County Planning Dept Grant Admin 

Task 5  $890.17 Pending

2234 Apr 19, 2023 Phillips Environmental Consulting Grant Task 1A  $4,095.00 Pending

2235 Apr 19, 2023 Phillips Environmental Consulting Grant Task 6B  $2,340.00 Pending

2236 Apr 19, 2023 Phillips Environmental Consulting Grant Task 6D  $1,137.50 Pending

2237 Apr 19, 2023 Phillips Environmental Consulting Grant Task 5  $1,755.00 Pending

TOTAL:  $10,246.42 

          PROGRESS REPORT

Task Number

Work plan 
Budget

Approved to 
Date

Invoiced This 
Quarter Invoiced to Date

Activity this quarter 
(include progress made, status, budget, concerns, and/or problems 

encountered)

1. Assessment
and

Investigation
 $387,892.00  $4,095.00  $388,151.31 Summary Preparation of VI Investigation

2. Due Care  $0.00  $0.00  $0.00 None



Brownfield Redevelopment Grant and Loan Quarterly Report and Payment Request

Page 2 of 2 EQP4451 (Rev 2/23/2018)

Fiscal Year: 2023 Quarter: 2 (Jan-Mar)Project Name: Paper City Development, LLC Report #: 21

Task Number

Work plan 
Budget

Approved to 
Date

Invoiced This 
Quarter Invoiced to Date

Activity this quarter 
(include progress made, status, budget, concerns, and/or problems 

encountered)

3. Demolition  $0.00  $0.00  $0.00 N/A

4. 3rd Party
Oversight  $0.00  $0.00 

5. Grant
Administration  $11,000.00  $2,645.17 

6A. 3rd party 
Oversight  $13,208.00  $28.75 

 $0.00     N/A

 $10,566.62 Admin and Budget Summary. Final Grant Report Preparation.  

$11,583.75 3rd Party Oversight

6B PFAS Soil 
Assess. for 
Waste Mgt.

 $16,000.00  $2,340.00  $15,583.67 Summary Preparation of PFAS Soil Sampling.

6C. Grant 
Work Plan 

Prep
 $1,200.00  $0.00  $1,200.00 

6D. Well 
Abandonment
for Due Care

 $20,700.00  $1,137.50 $14,713.27 Summary Preparation of Well Abandonment and
Investigation Activities.

TOTALS:  $450,000.00  $10,246.42  $441,798.62 

Describe proposed activity next quarter including proposed date to complete.
The field below will expand as you type. If additional room is desired, please attach additional sheets to this form.

Complete final documentation all tasks completed under the Grant and grant close-out documents prior to June 30, 2023.

LOAN AWARDS INTEREST EARNED 
LOAN REPORTS ONLY: Interest earned on loan funds disbursed shall be reported in each quarterly progress report with supporting 

documentation. Please check the box below that corresponds to the appropriate statement regarding disbursed loan funds. If you 
cannot select one of the options below, please select "Loan Report" from the top of Page 1.

Our interest statement is attached.

Our loan disbursement is not in an interest-bearing account.

STATEMENT OF REVIEW AND APPROVAL
BY SUBMITTING THIS QUARTERLY REPORT AND CHECKING THE BOX BELOW, THE GRANTEE / BORROWER AND THE 
REPORT SUBMMITTER (IF DIFFERENT) CERTIFY THAT ALL WORK PERFORMED AND THE ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURES 
CONTAINED WITHIN THE REPORT ARE TRUE.  THE GRANTEE / BORROWER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT FALSIFICATION OF 
RECORDS MAY RESULT IN THE TERMINATION OF THE GRANT / LOAN CONTRACT AND OTHER APPROPRIATE LEGAL 
REMEDIES.

By checking this box, I, the grantee / borrower, verify that I have reviewed and approve the submitted invoices and 
progress report.

Please type name of individual checking the above statement: Rachael Grover, Planning and Development Director

Please email the completed form and all supporting documentation to your Brownfield Grant and Loan Coordinator and to 
DEQBrownfields@Michigan.gov

 Note: In order for the submittal to be considered complete and in compliance with the contract: 

Copies of all contractor and subcontractor invoices must be attached. For Loan projects, a bank statement showing the 
balance of the loan funds and interest earned (if any) must also be attached. 

All parts of this form must be completed and submitted quarterly whether or not there have been expenditures.



EQP4451 (Rev 2/23/2018)Page 1 of 2

517-284-5169, DEQBrownfields@Michigan.gov

The following information is required to receive payment for incurred costs.  This form should be separately completed for both grant 
and loan projects.  ALL PAGES OF THE FORM MUST BE PROVIDED QUARTERLY WHETHER OR NOT WORK WAS 
COMPLETED AND REIMBURSEMENT IS REQUESTED.  Fields that are calculated by the form are shown in brown.

BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 
GRANT AND LOAN QUARTERLY REPORT
AND PAYMENT REQUEST FORM

PROJECT DETAILS

Grantee / Borrower Name:Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Grant Report Loan Report

Project Name: Paper City Development, LLC Tracking Code: 2018-1323 Request #:N/A

Purchase Order Number: Location Code: 6705

Dates of Reporting: Begin: Jan 1, 2023 End: Mar 31, 2023 Quarter: 2 (Jan-Mar) Fiscal Year: 2023

Name of Contact Person: Ken Peregon Contract Expires On: Oct 8, 2025

Title of Contact Person: Chairperson, KCBRA Phone Number: +1 (269) 384-8305

Remittance Address: 201 West Kalamazoo Avenue

City: Kalamazoo State Michigan Zip Code: 49007

EXPENDITURES
List all expenditures for the quarter and attach invoices from contractors and subcontractors

Invoice
Number Invoice Date Vendor

Task Number 
(refer to approved 

work plan)
Amount Proof of Payment (list check 

number or other reference)

BRA-EGLE
GL Q2 2023 Apr 27, 2023 Kalamazoo County Task 5  $167.28 Pending

4222 Apr 13, 2023 Fishbeck Task 4  $28.75 Pending

2239 Apr 20, 2023 Phillips Environmental Task 2G  $390.00 Pending

TOTAL:  $586.03 

          PROGRESS REPORT

Task Number

Work plan 
Budget

Approved to 
Date

Invoiced This 
Quarter Invoiced to Date

Activity this quarter 
(include progress made, status, budget, concerns, and/or problems 

encountered)

1. Assessment
and

Investigation
 $0.00  $0.00  $0.00 N/A

2. Due Care  $755,617.00  $390.00  $374,972.47 Due care planning for Phase 1 project buildings

3. Demolition  $407,590.00  $0.00  $392,435.72 N/A

4. 3rd Party
Oversight  $40,000.00  $28.75  $9,732.50 N/A

5. Loan
Administration  $37,500.00  $167.28  $9,694.30 Admin and Budget Summary

6. Contingency  $0.00  $0.00  $0.00 N/A



Brownfield Redevelopment Grant and Loan Quarterly Report and Payment Request

Page 2 of 2 EQP4451 (Rev 2/23/2018)

Fiscal Year: 2023 Quarter: 2 (Jan-Mar)Project Name: Paper City Development, LLC Report #: N/A

Task Number

Work plan 
Budget

Approved to 
Date

Invoiced This 
Quarter Invoiced to Date

Activity this quarter 
(include progress made, status, budget, concerns, and/or problems 

encountered)

TOTALS:  $1,240,707.00  $586.03  $786,834.99 

Describe proposed activity next quarter including proposed date to complete.
The field below will expand as you type. If additional room is desired, please attach additional sheets to this form.

LOAN AWARDS INTEREST EARNED 
LOAN REPORTS ONLY: Interest earned on loan funds disbursed shall be reported in each quarterly progress report with supporting 

documentation. Please check the box below that corresponds to the appropriate statement regarding disbursed loan funds. If you 
cannot select one of the options below, please select "Loan Report" from the top of Page 1.

Our interest statement is attached.

Our loan disbursement is not in an interest-bearing account.

STATEMENT OF REVIEW AND APPROVAL
BY SUBMITTING THIS QUARTERLY REPORT AND CHECKING THE BOX BELOW, THE GRANTEE / BORROWER AND THE 
REPORT SUBMMITTER (IF DIFFERENT) CERTIFY THAT ALL WORK PERFORMED AND THE ASSOCIATED EXPENDITURES 
CONTAINED WITHIN THE REPORT ARE TRUE.  THE GRANTEE / BORROWER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT FALSIFICATION OF 
RECORDS MAY RESULT IN THE TERMINATION OF THE GRANT / LOAN CONTRACT AND OTHER APPROPRIATE LEGAL 
REMEDIES.

By checking this box, I, the grantee / borrower, verify that I have reviewed and approve the submitted invoices and 
progress report.

Please type name of individual checking the above statement: Rachael Grover, Planning and Development Director

Please email the completed form and all supporting documentation to your Brownfield Grant and Loan Coordinator and to 
DEQBrownfields@Michigan.gov

 Note: In order for the submittal to be considered complete and in compliance with the contract: 

Copies of all contractor and subcontractor invoices must be attached. For Loan projects, a bank statement showing the 
balance of the loan funds and interest earned (if any) must also be attached. 

All parts of this form must be completed and submitted quarterly whether or not there have been expenditures.



February 7, 2023 
Project No. E220108 

Jamie McCarthy 
City of Kalamazoo Brownfield Redevelopment Authority 
245 N. Rose Street, Suite 100 
Kalamazoo, MI 49007 

By my signature below, I certify that the expenses described in this Request for Reimbursement for the above-
referenced property represent eligible expenses under the Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act (1996 PA 
381), as amended, and that the activities have been performed on the eligible property. 

All activities described in the reimbursement request have been completed as described in the Brownfield Plan 
adopted by the City of Kalamazoo on October 1, 2018. The project involved the construction of two new mixed-
use buildings. 

In February–March 2018, the Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority funded the completion of 
Phase I and II Environmental Site Assessments and a Hazardous Building Materials Inspection. The total amount 
being requested is $22,630.17. A description of the work activities completed is shown on the enclosed table. 
Invoices for the eligible activities detailing the work completed are provided. Proof of payment for each invoice is 
also enclosed.  

Reimbursements should be forwarded to: 

Macy R. Walters, MPA 
Brownfield Redevelopment Coordinator 
Planning & Development Department 
Kalamazoo County Government 
201 W Kalamazoo Ave | Kalamazoo, MI 49007 

If you have any questions or require additional information, please contact me at 269.544.6977 or 
dstegink@fishbeck.com. 

Sincerely, 

Vice President/Brownfield Program Manager 

Attachments 
By email 







615 W Kalamazoo Development (Westgate Apartments)
615 W. Kalamazoo, Kalamazoo, MI

DATE OF BROWNFIELD PLAN: 10/1/2018
City of Kalamazoo
10/1/2018 (6th Amendment)

CONTINGENCY: 15 % (not to exceed 15%)

1.00 Baseline Environmental Assessment (BEA) - Statutorily Approved

1.01 Phase I and II Environmental Site Assessments/BEA $19,305.00 $19,305.00 $19,305.00 10/1/2018 $19,305.00 N/A $12,080.65 4283 Envirologic Yes

$9,647.26 4370 Envirologic Yes

1.04 Pre-Demolition Survey $3,325.00 $3,325.00 $3,325.00 10/1/2018 3325 N/A $902.26 4432 Envirologic Yes
Sub-Total $22,630.00 $22,630.00

$22,630.00 $22,630.00 $22,630.17

2.00 Due Care
2.01 $0.00 $0.00
2.02 Development of a Plan for Response Activities or Due Care Documentation $0.00 $0.00

Sub-Total $0.00 $0.00
0% $0.00

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

3.00 Additional Response Activities
Sub-Total $0.00 $0.00

0% $0.00 $0.00
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

5.00 Public Infrastructure Improvements
5.21 $0.00 $0.00

Sub-Total $0.00 $0.00
15% $0.00 $0.00

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

6.00 Lead and Asbestos Abatement
Sub-Total $0.00 $0.00

15% $0.00 $0.00
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

Category Total
Total

7.00 Building Demolition
Sub-Total $0.00 $0.00

15% $0.00 $0.00
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

9.00 Site Preparation
Sub-Total $0.00 $0.00

15% $0.00 $0.00
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

10.00 Development of Brownfield Plan and/or Work Plan
Sub-Total $0.00 $0.00

0% $0.00 $0.00
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

$0.00-$                      

Proof of Payment

Proof of Payment

Contingency

Units Quantity $/Unit Category Total Total Comments Brownfield 
Plan $ Date of BF Plan Max School 

Tax $
Date of WP 
Approval Sum of breakdown Invoiced Amt Invoice # Contractor Note: Local 

Only
Local and 

School

Soft Costs (Engineering, Design, Survey, Legal, other Professional)

Units Quantity $/Unit Category Total Total

Actual Costs Incurred

Date of WP 
ApprovalDate of BF Plan Max School 

Tax $

Sum of breakdown

Sum of breakdown

Date of BF Plan Max School 
Tax $

Date of WP 
Approval

The three invoices 
were for combined 
work on Phase I and 
II ESA, BEA and 
Asbestos Survey

Sum of breakdown

Local 
Only

Contractor Remaining After 
EGLE Grant

Invoiced Amt Invoice # Contractor Note:

Brownfield 
Plan $

Brownfield 
Plan $

Date of BF Plan Max School 
Tax $

Brownfield 
Plan $

Brownfield 
Plan $ Date of BF Plan Max School 

Tax $
Date of WP 
Approval

Total

Total

Total

Total

Date of BF Plan Max School 
Tax $

Date of WP 
Approval

Total

Date of WP 
Approval Sum of breakdown Invoiced Amt Invoice # Contractor Note:Brownfield 

Plan $ Date of BF Plan Max School 
Tax $

Invoiced Amt Invoice # Contractor Note:

Local 
Only

Local and 
School

Local 
Only

Local and 
School

Invoiced Amt Invoice # Contractor Remaining After 
EGLE Grant

Local 
Only

Invoiced Amt Invoice #

Local and 
School

Comments

Comments

Total Potential Brownfield Plan Eligible Costs $22,630.00

Local and 
School

Total Approved:

Date of WP 
Approval Sum of breakdown Invoiced Amt Invoice # Contractor Note: Local 

Only
Local and 

School

Brownfield 
Plan $

Units Quantity $/Unit Category Total

Proof of Payment

$22,630.17

Proof of Payment

Proof of Payment

Proof of Payment

Proof of Payment

Proof of Payment

Local 
Only

Local and 
School

Sum of breakdown

Sum of breakdown

Local 
Only

Local and 
School

Units Quantity $/Unit Category Total

Units Quantity $/Unit Category Total

Units Quantity $/Unit Category Total

$19,305 from Kalamazoo County BRA

$3,325 from Kalamazoo County BRA

Total Comments

Comments

Comments

Comments

Comments

Contingency

Contingency

Units Quantity $/Unit Category Total

Contingency

PROJECT TITLE:
PROJECT ADDRESS:

PREPARED BY:
DATE PREPARED:

Contingency

Contingency

Contingency

Brownfield Plan Approved Estimated Costs

Investigation and Assessments

Brownfield 
Plan $ Date of BF Plan Max School 

Tax $
Date of WP 
Approval Invoiced Amt Invoice # Contractor Note:Units Quantity $/Unit

Envirologic Technologies, Inc. Printed 2/7/2023



170397  615 W. Kalamazoo, Kalamazoo, 
MI



170397  615 W. Kalamazoo, Kalamazoo, MI

12,080.65

We accept Check, ETF, Visa, MC Discover & Amex as payment options



9,647.26

170397  615 W. Kalamazoo, Kalamazoo, 
MI



170397  615 W. Kalamazoo, Kalamazoo, MI

We accept Check, ETF, Visa, MC Discover & Amex as payment options



902.26

We accept Check, ETF, Visa, MC Discover & Amex as payment options

170397  615 W. Kalamazoo, Kalamazoo, 
MI



Envirologic
Client Receipt Register

Period date range: 4/1/2018 to 6/9/2018

6/6/2018 Client Receipt Credit Card 2,342.26 6/6/2018

4/18/2018 Client Receipt EFT 16,579.01 4/18/2018

4/4/2018 Client Receipt EFT 18,907.27 4/4/2018

Checking - FNB of MI
Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority



Envirologic
Client Receipt Register

Period date range: 4/1/2018 to 6/9/2018

Checking - FNB of MI Total 37,828.54

Checking - FNB of MI

Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Total 37,828.54

Labor Total 26,308.84
Expense Total 2,211.72

Consultant Total 9,307.98
Report Total 37,828.54



















CLIENT requests that FISHBECK perform the work described below in accordance with the terms of the above-referenced 
Contract and as described in this “Scope of Services.” 

FISHBECK will begin work on this Work Order and complete the services as described in the attached "Scope of Services." 

FISHBECK and CLIENT have designated the following representatives for this “Scope of Services”: 

Jeffrey C. Hawkins 269.342.1100 
Name (FISHBECK) Phone 

Ken Peregon, Chair 269.384.8112 
Name (CLIENT) Phone 

If CLIENT accepts this Scope of Services, please sign this Work Order on behalf of CLIENT and return to the FISHBECK 
Representative above: 

KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD  FISHBECK 
REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (CLIENT) 

By Ken Peregon By Jeffrey C. Hawkins 
Title Chair Title CEO 

Signature ________________________ Signature ________________________ 

Date ______________ Date  



Work Order No. 7 
April 19, 2023 Fishbeck | Page 2 

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\2021 EPA BROWNFIELD ASSESSMENT GRANT\WORK ORDERS\WORK ORDER 7 - WATERSHED 
PROJECT, 6667 STADIUM.DOCX

The property that is the subject of this Work Order is a former schoolhouse building located at 6667 Stadium 
Drive in Oshtemo Township. The property consists of one parcel that is approximately 1.33 acres and is developed 
with a 3,726-square-foot former schoolhouse building that was constructed in 1870. The southern addition to the 
former schoolhouse building was constructed in the 1950s. Also, an approximately 5,700-square-foot former bus 
garage exists on the property. The subject property is not currently operating for any specific purpose. Years 
without use and significant water intrusion have caused the structure to become severely dilapidated and unsafe 
in its current condition. Significant investment will be needed in order to safely reuse the site. Shannon and Kevin 
Brown, the property owners and doing business as Watershed LLC, have plans to redevelop the structures into a 
mixed-use redevelopment. The main building (former schoolhouse) will be converted into three commercial 
spaces on the first floor, and the second floor will be renovated into two residential apartments. As a second 
stage of redevelopment, the former bus garage is intended to be renovated into an indoor recreational space for 
baseball practice. The Browns have submitted a project application to the Kalamazoo County Brownfield 
Redevelopment Authority (KCBRA) requesting funding support through the use of the County’s U.S. EPA 
Assessment Grant. 

Proposed scope of services included in this work order consist of obtaining U.S. EPA eligibility and performing an 
asbestos survey to determine if asbestos-containing materials exist that will require abatement prior to 
renovation. The former bus garage is also included in the scope of the asbestos survey. However, based on 
information provided to Fishbeck, it is not presumed that the former bus garage will contain significant quantities, 
if any, of asbestos-containing materials. If conditions on site are different than presented, scope and budget may 
increase. Fishbeck will not conduct any activities that would result in an increase in the budget as presented 
without first contacting KCBRA staff. Brownfield Plan evaluation activities are also included in this work order to 
work with the township assessor to determine anticipated Future Taxable Value and run TIF modeling to 
determine if a Brownfield Plan would be an appropriate tool for this project. After the evaluation is complete, the 
KCBRA may consider preparation of a Brownfield Plan to allow for the reimbursement of eligible activities needed 
to redevelop the property. If desired, preparation of a Brownfield Plan would be covered in a subsequent work 
order.  

Compensation for services provided under this Work Order will be completed on a time-and-materials basis 
invoiced at the rates provided in the Contract for Professional Services between FISHBECK and CLIENT not-to-
exceed the budget detailed below without prior authorization from the KCBRA. 

Eligibility and Asbestos Survey ........................................................................................................................... $ 5,000 
Brownfield Plan Evaluation ................................................................................................................................. $ 3,000 
TTotal Estimated Budget – Work Order #7 ........................................................................................................ $ 8,000 

Eligibility will be prepared immediately upon authorization of this work order. Following the eligibility 
determination, a Health and Safety Plan (HASP) and Sampling and Analysis Plan (SAP) will also be prepared and 
submitted to the U.S. EPA with an approximate timeline of two weeks. Once the HASP is accepted and SAP 
approved, the asbestos survey can be scheduled with field work occurring within one to two weeks from SAP 
approval, one week for laboratory turnaround, and an additional week to prepare the report. Meanwhile, 
Fishbeck will work with the developers to determine eligible costs and the local assessor to determine brownfield 
eligibility and potential tax increment. Results of the asbestos survey will inform the conversation on determining

 





Comstock Township 

Priority Redevelopment Sites 

King Highway at River Street 





✔



✔
✔

✔

✔

✔

✔
✔

✔

Scott Hess Digitally signed by Scott Hess 
Date: 2023.04.27 09:08:09 -04'00'



King Highway and River Street Priority Redevelopment Sites Information P a g e | 2

5922 King Highway   Owner: Kerney   Tax ID 3907-19-234-045)   0.33 acres 

 

(not current list of tenants) 

 

Built in 1943, 1960 addition on east end  Current Owner Acquired in 2005 
5,966 square feet with basement   SEV $115,100 
Past and current tenants and/or uses: 
Braemer’s Drugstore   LuAnn’s Beauty Shop 
Action Auto Parts   Russ & Doc’s Barber Shop 
Woodall’s Laundromat   AK’s One Stop 
E&J Carpets    Comstock Corner Store  
Bubba’s Bait    Hair Plus 
Comstock Laundry   Comstock Dollar & Discount 
Semper Fitness     Pizza Stop 
Rabbit Hutch    Tattoo shop 



King Highway and River Street Priority Redevelopment Sites Information P a g e | 3

211 River Street Owner: Kerney (Tax ID 3907-19-234-060) 0.49 acres 

Residence built  in 1900; commercial end built in 1964  Current owner acquired in 2005 
SEV $56,99 

Sir Roy’s Salon (768 square feet) 
House has 4 apartments per Assessing records (2,045 square feet) 



King Highway and River Street Priority Redevelopment Sites Information P a g e | 4

5958 King Highway Owner: Kerney (Tax ID 3907-19-234-070)   0.12 acres  

 

  

Built in 1910 Current Owner Acquired: 2005 
SEV $35,100 

1,310 square foot, three-bedroom, 1 bathroom house. 
Presently a rental home. 



King Highway and River Street Priority Redevelopment Sites Information P a g e | 5

6014 King Highway (Tax IDs 3907-19-234-110 &  3907-19-234-130) 0.37 acre 

Owner: Henson 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Built in  1956 for Dopp Pump Company   Current Owner acquired: 1995 
SEV $79,200 

Past uses:  retail, showroom for pump company.  



King Highway and River Street Priority Redevelopment Sites Information P a g e | 6

House Built in 1915 (1,296 sf);  Barn built in 1986 (960 sf) Current Owner Acquired: 1995 
SEV $42,600 

1,296 square foot house with basement. House is presently a rental. 

5972 King Highway Owner: Dopp (Tax ID 3907-19-234-100)   0.19 acres  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



King Highway and River Street Priority Redevelopment Sites Information P a g e | 7

House Built in 1920 (1,048 sf);   Barn built in 1986 (528 sf) Current Owner Acquired: 2001 
SEV $39,600 

1,048 square foot house. House is presently a rental. 

5964 King Highway Owner: Dopp (Tax ID 3907-19-234-090)   0.14 acres  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



King Highway and River Street Priority Redevelopment Sites Information P a g e | 8

Building demolished in 2009  Current Owner Acquired: 2001 
SEV $700; $1,100 and $26,000 

Approximately 8,500 square foot warehouse/office demolished in 2009; built in 1967/1968. 

Formerly occupied by Kalamazoo Amusements (used for storage of vending machines per 
Assessing records). 

 

 

 

5994 King Highway   Owner: 
Dopp       
  1.6 acres 

(Tax IDs 3907-19-234-
080/3907-19-234-120/3907-19-234-140)    

 

 

   

 







CLIENT requests that FISHBECK perform the work described below in accordance with the terms of the above-referenced 
Contract and as described in this “Scope of Services.” 

FISHBECK will begin work on this Work Order and complete the services as described in the attached "Scope of Services." 

FISHBECK and CLIENT have designated the following representatives for this “Scope of Services”: 

Jeffrey C. Hawkins 269.342.1100 
Name (FISHBECK) Phone 

Ken Peregon, Chair 269.384.8112 
Name (CLIENT) Phone 

If CLIENT accepts this Scope of Services, please sign this Work Order on behalf of CLIENT and return to the FISHBECK 
Representative above: 

KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD  FISHBECK 
REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (CLIENT) 

By Ken Peregon By Jeffrey C. Hawkins 
Title Chair Title CEO 

Signature ________________________ Signature ________________________ 

Date ______________ Date ______________



Work Order No. 8 
April 21, 2023 Fishbeck | Page 2 
 

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\2021 EPA BROWNFIELD ASSESSMENT GRANT\WORK ORDERS\WORK ORDER 8 - COMSTOCK 
CHARTER TOWNSHIP.DOCX 

Comstock Charter Township desires to redevelop 10 parcels at the southeast corner of King Highway and River 
Street in Comstock Center into a mixed-use redevelopment. At this time, neither a specific plan nor a developer 
have been identified. It has been determined that assessment will inform the redevelopment needs and assist in 
moving the project forward. While formal access agreements will need to be prepared, Comstock Charter 
Township has engaged in communications with each property owner, who each support site access for 
assessment purposes. Comstock Charter Township has submitted a project application to the Kalamazoo County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (KCBRA) requesting funding support through the use of the County’s U.S. 
EPA Assessment Grant. 

Proposed scope of services included in this work order consist of obtaining U.S. EPA eligibility, Phase I and II 
Environmental Site Assessments (ESAs), and if needed, a Baseline Environmental Assessment (BEA), Due Care 
Documentation, and preparation of a Brownfield Plan.  

Fishbeck will prepare an eligibility demonstration to the U.S. EPA for the use of grant funding on each of the 10 
parcels. Upon concurrence of site eligibility from EPA, Fishbeck will prepare a Phase I ESA compliant with the 
ASTM E1527 standard and the U.S. EPA rules for All Appropriate Inquiry. The Phase I ESA will include a site 
inspection, review of historical resources, review of environmental databases, interviews with knowledgeable 
persons, and preparation of a report. 

While Comstock Charter Township does not yet own the property, and an update may be needed, the intent of 
preparing these Phase I ESAs is not from a liability perspective but more to inform the Township on property 
conditions. While 10 unique parcels are associated with the property, the proximity of parcel locations and one 
property user (Comstock Charter Township) will facilitate some efficiencies, which is reflected in the task budget.  

In anticipation that the Phase I ESA will identify Recognized Environmental Conditions (RECs) on one or more of 
the 10 parcels, a Phase II ESA is being proposed. Fishbeck will prepare a Sampling and Analysis Plan for U.S. EPA 
approval. A Health and Safety Plan will also be prepared. Prior to conducting site work, utilities will be cleared by 
contacting Michigan’s one-call clearance center MISSDIG. 

Fishbeck proposes a Phase II ESA consisting of soil, groundwater, and/or soil gas sampling activities as 
appropriate. The budget assumes that any drilling equipment required and a Project Geologist would be on site 
for two days. With smaller parcels in close proximity, there is potential for multiple parcels to be assessed within 
these two days on site. The specific type and number of samples required, as well as the analytical parameters, 
will be determined following completion of the Phase I ESA. Additional samples required to meet U.S. EPA quality 
assurance and quality control requirements will also be collected and analyzed. Upon receipt of analyses, a 
comprehensive project report will be prepared. Fishbeck will update the ACRES database upon completion. The 
budget that has been provided is conceptual and may be updated based on the findings of the Phase I ESA; 
however, the estimate is based on previous experiences on similar sites.  

Fishbeck has also included contingent funding for the preparation of a BEA and Documentation of Due Care 
considerations based upon the potential that Phase II ESA activities result in the identification of contamination in 
excess of EGLE Residential cleanup criteria on select or all parcels subject to acquisition. The preparation of a BEA 
would provide an exemption to remedial liability for any pre-existing conditions. A document discussing due care 
considerations would be prepared in support of demonstrating compliance with “due care” obligations. Please 



Work Order No. 8 
April 21, 2023 Fishbeck | Page 3 

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\2021 EPA BROWNFIELD ASSESSMENT GRANT\WORK ORDERS\WORK ORDER 8 - COMSTOCK 
CHARTER TOWNSHIP.DOCX

note that the level of assessment/sampling appropriate to demonstrate compliance with “due care” is often 
greater than the level of assessment/sampling necessary to prepare a BEA. If additional sampling is needed to 
demonstrate “due care,” the budget may need to be updated. However, this estimate is being provided based on 
previous experience. 

Based on proposed redevelopment, there are anticipated costs that would be eligible for reimbursement through 
a Brownfield Plan. Fishbeck will work with the Comstock Charter Township to identify eligible activities 
and costs and work with local officials to ascertain reasonable estimates of future taxable value. 
Fishbeck will assist KCBRA staff to work with local officials regarding Township and County support for 
the project. Fishbeck will develop the Plan and, as necessary, attend meetings of the Township and 
County to guide the Plan through the adoption process.  

Compensation for services provided under this Work Order will be completed on a time-and-materials basis 
invoiced at the rates provided in the Contract for Professional Services between FISHBECK and CLIENT not-to-
exceed the budget detailed below without prior authorization from the KCBRA. 

Eligibility and Phase I ESA ................................................................................................................................. $ 4,000 
Phase II ESA (Conceptual) ................................................................................................................................. $ 18,000 
BEA/Due Care.................................................................................................................................................... $ 4,000 
Brownfield Plan ................................................................................................................................................. $ 4,000 
TTotal Estimated Budget – Work Order #8 ...................................................................................................... $ 30,000 

Eligibility will be prepared immediately upon authorization of this work order. Following the eligibility 
determination, Phase I ESA activities will commence. Phase I activities are anticipated to take four weeks to 
complete. Results of the Phase I ESA will inform the scope of the Phase II sampling. A Health and Safety Plan 
(HASP) and Sampling and Analysis Plan (SAP) will be also prepared and submitted to the U.S. EPA with an 
approximate timeline of two weeks. Once the HASP is accepted and SAP approved, the field work can be 
scheduled and likely occur within two weeks from SAP approval, 7–10 business days for laboratory turnaround, 
and an additional 1–2 weeks to prepare the report. Following results of the Phase II ESA, a BEA and Due Care 
Document will be prepared, if needed. Meanwhile, Fishbeck will work with the Township to determine eligible 
costs and the local assessor to determine potential tax increment. Additional information regarding potential 
redevelopment plans will be needed prior to completion of the Brownfield Plan. Results of the field work will 
inform the conversation on determining eligible costs. It is anticipated that the Brownfield Plan preparation and 
adoption process will take three months. 





Camillea
Polygon

Camillea
Polygon

Camillea
Polygon



94

Camille
Polygon

Camille
Text Box
543.50ac

Camillea
Polygon

Camillea
Text Box
522.22ac

Camillea
Polygon













CLIENT requests that FISHBECK perform the work described below in accordance with the terms of the above-referenced 
Contract and as described in this “Scope of Services.” 

FISHBECK will begin work on this Work Order and complete the services as described in the attached "Scope of Services." 

FISHBECK and CLIENT have designated the following representatives for this “Scope of Services”: 

Jeffrey C. Hawkins 269.342.1100 
Name (FISHBECK) Phone 

Ken Peregon, Chair 269.384.8112 
Name (CLIENT) Phone 

If CLIENT accepts this Scope of Services, please sign this Work Order on behalf of CLIENT and return to the FISHBECK 
Representative above: 

KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD  FISHBECK 
REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (CLIENT) 

By Ken Peregon By Jeffrey C. Hawkins 
Title Chair Title Vice President/Senior Hydrogeologist 

Signature ________________________ Signature ________________________ 

Date ______________ Date  



Work Order No. 10 
April 21, 2023 Fishbeck | Page 2 

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\2021 EPA BROWNFIELD ASSESSMENT GRANT\WORK ORDERS\WORK ORDER 10 - MIDLINK 
EXPANSION PROJECT.DOCX

The property subject to this Work Order is located within the Midlink Business Park. The project developer (5200 
East Cork Street Investors, LLC) is requesting an amendment to the Midlink Brownfield Plan to include funding for 
eligible expenses related to constructing a new 165,000-square-foot speculative warehouse/light manufacturing 
building on 14 acres of surplus land at Midlink Business Park.  

It is likely that the Brownfield Plan for this project will need to be amended to accommodate additional costs 
related to the expansion. The new construction will result in an increase in available tax increment revenues — 
though at this time, the projected amount of new, additional tax increment revenues has not been determined. 
There is also an evaluation needed on remaining reimbursable expenses, sequencing of reimbursement, and 
timing. Fishbeck is proposing to conduct project planning activities associated with an anticipated Brownfield Plan 
Amendment. 

Compensation for services provided under this Work Order will be completed on a time-and-materials basis 
invoiced at the rates provided in the Contract for Professional Services between FISHBECK and CLIENT not-to-
exceed the budget detailed below without prior authorization from the KCBRA. 

Project Planning Associated with Plan Amendment .......................................................................................$ 6,500 
TTotal Estimated Budget – Work Order #10 .................................................................................................. $ 6,500 

Eligibility will be updated immediately upon authorization of this work order. Following the eligibility 
determination, Fishbeck will work with the developer to determine eligible costs, the local Assessor to determine 
potential tax increment, and KCBRA staff on Brownfield Plan considerations. Project planning activities are 
anticipated to take three to four weeks. After project planning activities are complete, if the KCBRA decides to 
move forward with a formal Amendment to the existing Brownfield Plan, those services and associated budget 
would be provided in a subsequent work order. 



TTO:  Jamie Clark – Clarklogic 
Macy Walters – Kalamazoo County BRA 
Rachael Grover – Kalamazoo County BRA 

FFROM:  David Stegink – Fishbeck 

DDATE:  April 5, 2023 

RRE:  New Construction at Clarklogic Eliza Street, Schoolcraft Property 

Jamie Clark of Clarklogic informed Fishbeck that he had started new construction of a 126,000-square-foot 
building located on the parcel to the south of 555 Eliza Street in Schoolcraft, Michigan. The County BRA has a 
history of supporting the project site by funding previous environmental assessment activities and securing an 
EGLE Grant and Loan to support the initial development. 

Clarklogic’s initial concern was the discovery of buried topsoil, concrete, tires, and stumps, etc. during site work 
activities. The contractor for the project (H&K Excavating) has submitted a Change Order for $192,500 to export 
and replace 8,750 cubic yards of unsuitable soils. Based on previous environmental studies, this soil is presumed 
to be contaminated and will require landfilling. 

In addition to the excess soil, Fishbeck has advised Clarklogic that groundwater contamination at the site 
potentially remains and represents a vapor intrusion risk to the new building. We are advising further assessment 
of groundwater beneath and near the building to determine the condition of groundwater in the area of new 
construction and determine if that risk remains valid. Remaining contamination could potentially trigger inclusion 
of a vapor mitigation system into the new construction and/or post-construction monitoring. Neither of these 
costs have been estimated. 

Lastly, the new construction presents both problems and opportunities for the Brownfield Plan that is in place for 
this property. The new construction will create additional tax increment revenues that will help pay for previously 
incurred costs including initial assessment activities incurred by the County BRA, an EGLE Loan, and costs incurred 
by Clarklogic. However, the new construction also involves additional eligible activities that could potentially be 
added to the Brownfield Plan. An amendment to the Brownfield Plan will likely be required to add the cost of soil 
disposal to the eligible activities. An amendment to the Brownfield Plan would also be needed if vapor mitigation 
or monitoring is required for site development. 

The discovery of unsuitable soils and the absence of a strategy for managing the soils has stalled the construction 
activities. Clarklogic is seeking to have the added cost included in the Brownfield Plan as an eligible cost and may 
also seek an advance from the Local Brownfield Revolving Fund (LBRF) for some or all of the cost.  



Memo – New Construction at Clarklogic Eliza Street, Schoolcraft Property 
April 5, 2023 Fishbeck | Page 2 

\\CORP.FTCH.COM\ALLPROJECTS\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_C\CMS - CLARK LOGIC\ELIZA STREET NEW CONSTRUCTION\ME_KCBRA_NEW CONSTRUCTION AT CLARKLOGIC ELIZA 
STREET_2023_0405.DOCX

The existing Brownfield Plan clearly needs to be re-evaluated to determine the effect of new tax increment 
revenues on existing costs. With an updated projection of annual revenues, it will be possible to project how 
existing costs can be managed and how new eligible activities can be accommodated by the Plan, as well as 
whether a Plan amendment is warranted. Once it is understood how new costs can be accommodated, the Board 
can begin to discuss whether an advance from the LBRF is possible. Clarklogic (and Fishbeck) is seeking a funding 
source to do this evaluation. We view this as an EPA grant eligible activity. 

Further assessment of site conditions is recommended. Fishbeck recommends sampling groundwater beneath 
the proposed building footprint and along the eastern portion of the property. The assessment would determine 
if residual contamination remains and poses a risk to indoor air quality. We view this as an EPA grant eligible 
activity. Once results are provided, Clarklogic will be able to decide if additional costs related to vapor mitigation 
or monitoring need to be included in the evaluation of this project. 

The specific request at this time would be to have Fishbeck complete an evaluation of the Brownfield Plan with 
consideration for the new tax increment revenues created by this new construction, as well as to have Fishbeck 
evaluate site conditions to ascertain whether a vapor intrusion risk exists. Both these activities should be eligible 
activities using the U.S. EPA Assessment Grant. Preliminary costs would be $15,000 for environmental assessment 
and $5,000 for the Brownfield Plan evaluation. Once these activities are complete, a more informed discussion is 
possible about a Brownfield Plan amendment and possible advance from the LBRF. 



C-2

S
IT

E
 L

A
Y
O

U
T
 P

L
A

N
C

L
A

R
K

 L
O

G
IC

 C
M

S
 S

C
H

O
O

L
C

R
A

F
T

C
L
A

R
K

 L
O

G
IC

 C
M

S

PROPOSED USE

BUILDING INFORMATION

PARKING

ZONING

9 PROPOSED TRAILER
PARKING SPOTS

9 TOTAL PROPOSED
PARKING SPACES

9 PROPOSED TRAILER
PARKING SPOTS

2
2
 D

E
F
E

R
R

E
D

P
A

R
K

IN
G

 S
P

O
T
S

4
 D

E
F
E

R
R

E
D

P
A

R
K

IN
G

 S
P

A
C

E
S

7 PROPOSED
PARKING SPACES

8
 D

E
F
E

R
R

E
D

P
A

R
K

IN
G

 S
P

O
T
S

8
 D

E
F
E

R
R

E
D

P
A

R
K

IN
G

 S
P

O
T
S

2
 P

R
O

P
O

S
E

D
P

A
R

K
IN

G
 S

P
A

C
E

S

6
 D

E
F
E

R
R

E
D

P
A

R
K

IN
G

 S
P

O
T
S



Village Cyclery

uth
ern

31

31

D
uncan

S
t

S
R

obinson
S

t

S
C

edar
S

t

Walnut

Pine St

E Eliza St

S
G

ra
nd

S
t

P
earl S

t

Osterhout

N
or

fo
lk

S
o u

th
er

n

Lee
A

ve

E Eliza St

14th
S

t
S

120

208

119 122 123

123

127123

122

124

119

0

603
655

101
425

400

610

555

563

118

350

0

677

0

617

126
421

447 503

0

430

421 631
611

112

419

638568

501

503 527

628

615

618

635

594

641

554
614

619

580

605 639515
625

637

632 127

643

311

360

136

213

114
115

304

311

304

147 148

126

217

127

403

148

212

122

304

303
327

220

140

126

306

123

210

301

216

124

139

117

203

342

311

134

206

119

322

220

203

143

132

411

348

128

142

118

323

309

147

121

322

222

310

314

300

214215

121

303

402

141

314

119

120

319

122

139

221

410

321

131

218

135

204

114

126

125

118

Schoolcraft

G
ra

nd
 E

lk
 R

ai
lro

ad

E ELIZA ST

PINE ST

D
U

N
C

A
N

 ST

WALNUT ST

E ELIZA ST

WALNUT ST

E ELIZA ST

S R
O

S C
ED

A
R

 ST

PINE ST

S R
O

B
IN

SO
N

 ST

WALNUT ST

S C
ED

A
R

 ST
S C

E

S R
O

B
IN

SO
N

 ST

D
U

N
C

A
N

 ST

PINE ST

R
L ST

E ELIZA ST

PINE ST

E ELIZA ST

PEA
R

L ST

LEE AVE

E ELIZA ST

HAGER DR

E ELIZA ST

S 14TH
 ST

N
 R

O
B

IN
SO

N
 ST

N
 14TH

 ST

OSTERHOUT ST

4TH
 ST

VILLAGE OF SCHOOLCRAFT

KALAMAZOO COUNTY LAND BANK

IND & MICH ELECT CO

CLARK LOGISTICS GROUP VII, LLC

D&D REALTY LLC

D&D REALTY LLC

DW & TM REALESTATE LLCLODGETT TERRY

OWNER UNKNOWN

LITTLE ALEXIS & MCKEOWN DAVID

THOMAS BRANDON

STAFFORD ROY A & HARRIET A

THE FIRST PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH

STEELE JESSICA

VP PROPERTY INVESTMENTS LLC

FLINN LEILA & CAROL

SCHOOLCRAFT WATER PLANT

1938 SCHOOLHOUSE LLC

BOGEMA WILLIAM







CLIENT requests that FISHBECK perform the work described below in accordance with the terms of the above-referenced 
Contract and as described in this “Scope of Services.” 

FISHBECK will begin work on this Work Order and complete the services as described in the attached "Scope of Services." 

FISHBECK and CLIENT have designated the following representatives for this “Scope of Services”: 

Jeffrey C. Hawkins 269.342.1100 
Name (FISHBECK) Phone 

Ken Peregon, Chair 269.384.8112 
Name (CLIENT) Phone 

If CLIENT accepts this Scope of Services, please sign this Work Order on behalf of CLIENT and return to the FISHBECK 
Representative above: 

KALAMAZOO COUNTY BROWNFIELD  FISHBECK 
REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (CLIENT) 

By Ken Peregon By Jeffrey C. Hawkins 
Title Chair Title Vice President/Senior Hydrogeologist 

Signature ________________________ Signature ________________________ 

Date ______________ Date  



Work Order No. 9 
April 19, 2023 Fishbeck | Page 2 

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\2021 EPA BROWNFIELD ASSESSMENT GRANT\WORK ORDERS\WORK ORDER 9 - 555 ELIZA ST, 
SCHOOLCRAFT EXPANSION PROJECT.DOCX

The property subject to this Work Order is a property where the Kalamazoo County BRA has previously had a 
significant role in supporting redevelopment. 555 Eliza Street is a Clarklogic-owned property. A vacant parcel to 
the south of Eliza Street is being redeveloped with a 126,000-square-foot warehousing building. As construction 
began, unsuitable soils were encountered which will require offsite disposal. There is also concern that about the 
environmental condition of the site and specifically if vapor mitigation controls are required for this new 
construction. 

Proposed scope of services included in this work order consists of a Phase II Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) 
of the property. Specifically, Fishbeck intends to collect several groundwater samples within the footprint of the 
proposed building and along the eastern portion of the property where groundwater contamination was 
historically documented. Groundwater samples will be analyzed for volatile organic compounds. Results will be 
compared to Screening Levels protective of indoor air to determine if a vapor intrusion risk exists.  

A Brownfield Plan is in place for this site. The new construction will result in an increase in available tax increment 
revenues — though at this time, the projected amount of new, additional tax increment revenues has not been 
determined. Fishbeck is proposing to conduct a Brownfield Plan Evaluation to work with the local Assessor to 
estimate future tax revenues and provide the Authority with different schedules to show how the future taxes can 
be used to pay for costs previously incurred by the Authority, costs previously incurred by Clarklogic, loan 
repayment obligations the County has to EGLE, and future costs related to this development. This evaluation will 
also aid the Authority in considering any request for the use of Local Brownfield Revolving Funds. 

It is likely that the Brownfield Plan for this project will need to be amended to accommodate additional costs 
related to the new development. Once a clear path is determined for how tax increment revenues will be 
dispensed (i.e., to whom and in what order), Fishbeck will amend the Plan as necessary, prepare new public 
notices, and help staff communicate with the Village of Schoolcraft on the matter. Fishbeck will also review the 
Development and Reimbursement Agreement and suggest any necessary changes to support agreed upon 
support from the Village and the BRA. 

Compensation for services provided under this Work Order will be completed on a time-and-materials basis 
invoiced at the rates provided in the Contract for Professional Services between FISHBECK and CLIENT not-to-
exceed the budget detailed below without prior authorization from the KCBRA. 

Phase II ESA (staff, drilling costs, laboratory costs, report) ............................................................................$ 15,000 
Brownfield Plan Evaluation ..............................................................................................................................$ 8,000 
Brownfield Plan Amendment ..........................................................................................................................$ 7,000 
TTotal Estimated Budget – Work Order #9 .................................................................................................... $ 30,000 

Eligibility will be updated immediately upon authorization of this work order. Following the eligibility 
determination, a Health and Safety Plan (HASP) and Sampling and Analysis Plan (SAP) will also be prepared and 
submitted to the U.S. EPA with an approximate timeline of two weeks. Once the HASP is accepted and SAP 
approved, the field work can be scheduled with field work occurring within one to two weeks from SAP approval, 
one week for laboratory turnaround, and an additional week to prepare the report. Meanwhile, Fishbeck will 
work with the developers to determine eligible costs and the local Assessor to determine potential tax increment. 
The Brownfield Plan adoption process is anticipated to take three months. 





Brownfields 2023 at Huntington Place, 1 Washington Blvd, Detroit, MI 48226 

Mileage: 65.5 cents/mile per diem rate ($182.75 from County Admin for 279 miles) 

Mobile Work Shops: average $25 

Lodging: $133 per diem rate 

Meals & Incidentals: $64 a day per diem rate 

Parking: $25 

Registration: $50-$325  

STAFF –  $1,400 budget  

Registration $200  

Hotel $458.85  

Per Diem Meals & incidentals $256 

Workshop $25 

Mileage $182.75 

Parking $100 

______________

estimated total of $1,222.60

PREVIOUSLY SPENT – in 2022 $1,847.21  (Grover)
AMOUNT REMAINING -  for 2023 $4,152.79

PROPOSED ALLOWANCE 2023 - 
-

 

Walters up to $1,400 
-     Grover up to $1,400
     (discussion will ensue about proposed amount) 

- Remaining estimated for board members is contingient 
upon amount approved for staff. If both staff funded up to 
$1,400 then three board members are covered with 
registration and mileage or 1 member for a full week with 
hotel.  ($1,500 - $2,750 available for board members)



This memorandum serves to provide information regarding updates for the Kalamazoo County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (KCBRA) for activities and services rendered on various projects 
related to General Funding or LBRF Projects. 

UUpdate:

General Review: Fishbeck attended the Project and Finance and Executive Committee
meetings providing updates on projects.
Contractual Administrative Support: Fishbeck attended the Kalamazoo County Land Bank
Authority meeting and completed a note summary of the meeting.

Fishbeck attended the team meeting. The team is preparing to close out the grant.

Fishbeck attended the team meeting.

The KCBRA staff is attempting to communicate with property owner to understand status of
project and determine timing on preparing a brownfield plan for the site to at a minimum
recoup the KCBRA’s costs. No activities this month.



*Invoices Pending Approval by KCBRA Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

General Environmental Review
Budget and Cost Summary 

4/27/2023
Page 1 of 1

230454 2023-1 General Environmental Review 14,000.00$            14,000.00$              420292 2/16/2023 $160.00
421238 3/16/2023 $315.00

Project Subtotal 14,000.00$            14,000.00$              $475.00 $13,525.00

Contractual Administrative 6,000.00$               6,000.00$                421238 $45,001.00 $315.00

Project Subtotal 6,000.00$               6,000.00$                $315.00 $5,685.00

Project Total $20,000.00 $20,000.00 $790.00 $19,210.00

190048 2019-2 Paper City Development - EGLE Grant Oversight
W.O. Approved   
Total Approved budget of $3,000.00 3,000.00$               3,000.00$                05421 4/18/2019 $2,642.50 $16,857.50 $16,857.50
Amendment #1 - $5,000.00 5,000.00$               5,000.00$                05490 5/10/2019 $140.00 $16,717.50 $16,717.50
Amendment #2 - $5,000.00 5,000.00$               5,000.00$                05603 6/14/2019 $1,662.50 $15,055.00 $15,055.00
Contingency Amendment #3- $6,500 6,500.00$               6,500.00$                05665 7/16/2019 $1,110.00 $13,945.00 $13,945.00

Project Subtotal 19,500.00$            19,500.00$              05723 8/14/2019 $788.75 $13,156.25 $13,156.25
05787 9/6/2019 $35.00 $13,121.25 $13,121.25
06215 1/7/2020 $26.25 $13,095.00 $13,095.00
06329 2/7/2020 $131.25 $12,963.75 $12,963.75
06442 3/19/2020 $210.00 $12,753.75 $12,753.75
06579 5/12/2020 $113.75 $12,640.00 $12,640.00
06655 6/17/2020 $52.50 $12,587.50 $12,587.50

 06714 7/9/2020 $105.00 $12,482.50 $12,482.50
06808 8/11/2020 $78.75 $12,403.75 $12,403.75
06895 9/8/2020 $52.50 $12,351.25 $12,351.25
06994 10/12/2020 $446.25 $11,905.00 $11,905.00
07086 11/5/2020 $551.25 $11,353.75 $11,353.75
07163 12/7/2020 $183.75 $11,170.00 $11,170.00
07282 1/14/2021 $645.73 $10,524.27 $10,524.27
07465 3/9/2021 $446.25 $10,078.02 $10,078.02
07514 4/8/2021 $301.77 $9,776.25 $9,776.25
07669 5/21/2021 $402.50 $9,373.75 $9,373.75
07764 6/16/2021 $26.25 $9,347.50 $9,347.50
07955 8/9/2021 $78.75 $9,268.75 $9,268.75
08127 10/6/2021 $26.25 $9,242.50 $9,242.50
08659 2/18/2022 $52.50 $9,190.00 $9,190.00
08768 3/10/2022 $26.25 $9,163.75 $9,163.75
08840 4/8/2022 $262.50 $8,901.25 $8,901.25
08975 5/10/2022 $172.50 $8,728.75 $8,728.75
09125 6/13/2022 $28.75 $8,700.00 $8,700.00
09390 8/18/2022 $57.50 $8,642.50 $8,642.50
09618 10/12/2022 $86.25 $8,556.25 $8,556.25
09744 11/9/2022 $373.75 $8,182.50 $8,182.50
09856 12/12/2022 $230.00 $7,952.50 $7,952.50
421239 3/16/2023 $28.75 $7,923.75 $7,923.75

Project Subtotal $11,576.25 $7,923.75

190148 2019-4 Paper City Development LLC, Vicksburg, Michigan - EGLE Loan Oversight
W.O. Approved 40,000.00$            $40,000.00 05789 9/6/2019 $1,470.00 $38,530.00 $38,530.00

05896 10/7/2019 $787.50 $37,742.50 $37,742.50
05994 11/7/2019 $1,242.50 $36,500.00 $36,500.00
06128 12/9/2019 $280.00 $36,220.00 $36,220.00
06214 1/7/2020 $105.00 $36,115.00 $36,115.00
'06330 2/7/2020 $385.00 $35,730.00 $35,730.00
06441 3/19/2020 $840.00 $34,890.00 $34,890.00
06516 4/8/2020 $271.25 $34,618.75 $34,618.75
06580 5/12/2020 $840.00 $33,778.75 $33,778.75
06656 6/17/2020 $236.25 $33,542.50 $33,542.50
06713 7/9/2020 $130.00 $33,412.50 $33,412.50
06809 8/11/2020 $78.75 $33,333.75 $33,333.75
06896 9/8/2020 $315.00 $33,018.75 $33,018.75
06982 10/12/2020 $297.50 $32,721.25 $32,721.25
07042 11/5/2020 $52.50 $32,668.75 $32,668.75
07162 12/7/202 $78.75 $32,590.00 $32,590.00
07346 2/5/2021 $52.50 $32,537.50 $32,537.50
07464 3/9/2021 $262.50 $32,275.00 $32,275.00
07515 4/8/2021 $35.00 $32,240.00 $32,240.00
07670 5/21/2021 $700.00 $31,540.00 $31,540.00
07956 8/9/2021 $131.25 $31,408.75 $31,408.75
08051 9/14/2021 $26.25 $31,382.50 $31,382.50
08355 12/7/2021 $210.00 $31,172.50 $31,172.50
08767 3/10/2022 $288.75 $30,883.75 $30,883.75
08839 4/8/2022 $393.75 $30,490.00 $30,490.00
08976 5/10/2022 $28.75 $30,461.25 $30,461.25
09126 6/13/2022 $86.25 $30,375.00 $30,375.00

422268* 4/17/2023 $28.75 $30,346.25 $30,346.25
Project Subtotal $9,653.75 $30,346.25

210178 2021-2 3800 Wynn Road, Kalamazoo Twp. 21,000.00$            21,000.00$              08138 10/6/2021 $11,504.97 $9,495.03 $9,495.03
08253 11/4/2021 $308.51 $9,186.52 $9,186.52
08357 12/7/2021 $1,102.50 $8,084.02 $8,084.02
08473 1/6/2022 $897.00 $7,187.02 $7,187.02
08670 2/18/2022 $130.00 $7,057.02 $7,057.02
09079 6/8/2022 $225.00 $6,832.02 $6,832.02

Project Subtoal $14,167.98 $6,832.02

Phase II ESA 15,000.00$            $15,000.00
08138 10/6/2021 $9,787.47 $5,212.53 $5,212.53
08253 11/4/2021 $262.50 $4,950.03 $4,950.03
08357 12/7/2021 $1,102.50 $3,847.53 $3,847.53
08473 1/6/2022 $897.00 $2,950.53 $2,950.53

$12,049.47 $2,950.53

BEA/Due Care 3,000.00$               $3,000.00
08138 10/6/2021 $1,717.50 $1,282.50 $1,282.50
08253 11/4/2021 $46.01 $1,236.49 $1,236.49
08670 2/18/2022 $130.00 $1,106.49 $1,106.49
09079 6/8/2022 $262.50 $843.99 $843.99

$2,156.01 $843.99

Contingency 3,000.00$               $3,000.00

Total Project Budgets $100,500.00 $100,500.00  Total $36,187.98 $64,312.02

Number  Budget Estimates  Actual 
Project W.O. Site/Phase Total County Funding Invoice # Invoice Date Invoice Amount Task Budget 

Remaining
Total Budget 
Remaining



Memo 
TO: Macy Walters, Brownfield Redevelopment Administrator, Kalamazoo County Brownfield 

Redevelopment Authority 

FROM: Jeff Hawkins, Vice President/Senior Hydrogeologist, Therese Searles, Senior Geologist 

DATE: April 27, 2023 

RE: FY21 EPA Grant Updates and Invoices 

This memorandum serves to provide information regarding updates for the Kalamazoo County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (KCBRA) for activities and services rendered on various projects 
related to the FY21 EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant. 

11. Community Outreach and Programmatic
Project No: E210229 -W.O. 2 

Update: 

Fishbeck met with the Chamber to plan for an outreach event. Fishbeck attended the committee meetings 
and began the quarterly reports. Additional projects and applications have been evaluated and were 
presented at the committee meetings and will be presented at the KCBRA meeting including the Eliza Street 
project expansion, former Chime Elementary School, Comstock redevelopment project, Midlink expansion. 

2. NACD – Church and Frank Street Project
Project No: E220129 – W.O. 4

Update: 

NACD plans to redevelop 21 tax foreclosed parcels, currently held by the County Land Bank, into 18 affordable 
residential properties. NACD has a Purchase Agreement with the Land Bank. The KCBRA has approved NACD’s 
application and approved a work order funding for a Phase I ESA and selective ground penetrating radar on 
parcels that may have remaining foundations. Eligibility and approval of the Sampling and Analysis Plan was 
obtained. All field activities are complete. The GPR survey identified several parcels with suspect buried 
demolition debris. The Phase I ESA report has been completed and provided to NACD. There are four parcels that 
warrant further assessment. Timing for this assessment in relation to plans for construction of future houses is 
being evaluated. NACD is prioritizing the Ransom and North Street redevelopment project before moving forward 
on these parcels. No further actions since last month. 

3. NACD – Ransom and North Street Projects
Project No: E220128 – W.O. 5

Update: 

NACD owns several parcels of land that are located between North Street, Ransom Street and Westnedge Avenue 
in the Northside Minority Cultural Business District. Several different projects include a tiny house development, a 
transitional apartment housing project, 4 single-family houses and a retail building. A Phase I ESA has been 



Memo – FY21 EPA Grant Updates and Invoices 
April 27, 2023 Fishbeck | Page 2 

Z:\ENVIROLOGIC\PROJECTS\PROJECTS_K\KALAMAZOO COUNTY\BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY\2021 EPA BROWNFIELD ASSESSMENT GRANT\INVOICES AND UPDATES\2023\APRIL 2023\KCBRA 
EPA GRANT FUNDS MEMO AND MONTHLY UPDATE 4-27-23.DOCX

completed on several parcels in the vicinity and Phase II ESA activities were recommended including vapor 
intrusion assessment, soil sampling, UST removal and assessment and other activities. The KCBRA approved 
NACD’s application and funding through a Work Order from Envirologic at the June 23, 2022, meeting. Eligibility 
and approval of the Sampling and Analysis Plan was received from the EPA. Field work has been completed 
including installation of soil gas wells and vapor pins on all three assessment parcels and some soil and 
groundwater sampling on 604 N. Westnedge Avenue. Phase II ESA reports have been finalized for 447 W. North 
and 441/445 W. North Street.  All of the proposed field work for 604 N. Westnedge has been completed. The 
KCBRA approved an amended work order associated with the UST removal due to higher contractor estimates 
than initially received. Three bids were received to ensure competitive pricing. The selected contractor removed 
the tanks and restored the site on November 21st through the 23rd. The tanks were full of fuel and water which 
required removal and disposal. Samples were obtained for the site assessment, there were no signs of a release 
and the site assessment report and amended registration have been filed with the state. A few challenges 
occurred related to moving a vehicle and clearing snow at the site which led to longer times on site. We have 
received final costs and were prepared to present a work order amendment at the February KCBRA meeting, 
which was canceled. Therefore, this work order amendment will be presented for consideration at the March 
KCBRA meeting. All other scope items have been completed. Costs were higher than anticipated and 
Fishbeck/NACD is requesting an additional $5,500 to complete the project and primarily cover the additional 
subcontractor costs with some Fishbeck oversight/reporting time. The KCBRA approved the additional budget. No 
further activities this month. 

44. Parchment Mill Site
Project No: E220154 – W.O. 6

Update: 

The City of Parchment has been continuously working on plans to improve the redevelopment potential for the 
property. After a failed attempt by a previous developer, the city regained ownership of the property in 2020. To 
improve and advance the City’s efforts related to this site, additional cleanup planning activities are warranted 
and are the subject of the Work Order that was approved by the KCBRA.  Specific activities that Envirologic 
envisions include: 

1. Following up on the Resources Roundtable Discussion and with specific questions and concerns

2. Development of Development Visualizations/Concepts and environmental concerns.

3. Community Engagement Meetings

4. Development of Preliminary Cleanup and Demolition Activities and Preliminary Budgets

5. Meetings with City BRA, Planning Commission, City Commission as needed.

To-date Envirologic has developed a tri-fold brochure and banner, prepared for and staffed a booth at the 
Kindleberger Festival to get interested citizens to sign up for future notifications about the Mill activities so they 
can be informed and included in the discussions. Envirologic has had several meetings and planning sessions, 
continues to collect information about the site, and has met with the City Council and the Planning Commission. 
An initial community engagement event was held on August 23, 2022 at the Parchment District library to assess 
community input regarding redevelopment plans. Another community engagement event was completed at the 
Parchment District Library on September 20th. Based on community input, specific future land uses preferred by 
the community have been identified. A Site-wide project needs list has been developed. Based on the definition 
of the project, we drafted a project plan, preliminary budgets, potential cleanup and goals, etc. Final 
documentation will be prepared. Those project plans were used to craft the EPA grant request (the actual grant 
proposal writing will not be paid by the County BRA). Updated accomplishments were presented to the KCBRA 
board at their December 15th meeting. EPA did notify the city that the grant passed the Threshold Criteria and is 

being further evaluated. Fishbeck has prepared the Roadmap to Redevelopment and is distributing it to various 
stakeholders for their review. 



Kalamazoo County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority
U.S. EPA Brownfield Assessment Grant

Budget and Cost Summary

4/27/2023

Activity  Budget Estimates 
Project W.O. Site/Phase Total Invoice No. Invoice Date Total Invoiced Amount

Initial Grant Award 300,000.00$       
County 4 Personnel 1,200.00$ -$
County 4 Travel 6,000.00$       -$       
County 4 Supplies 1,500.00$       -$    
County 4 Other -$        -$    

County Subtotal 8,700.00$       County Subtotal -$    County Subtotal

Contractual - Envirologic Technologies, Inc. 291,300.00$       -$    -$        

210220 1 2 QAPP Preparation 5,000.00$       Invoice Total 08272 11/10/2021 118.50$       
08354 12/7/2021 1,440.75$        
08471 1/6/2022 444.75$       

Project Subtotal 2,004.00$        Project Subtotal 2,996.00$       

210229 2 4 Community Outreach and Programmatic 2,500.00$       Invoice Total 08661 2/18/2022 132.02$       
Invoice Total 08841 4/8/2022 104.56$       
Invoice Total 08977 5/10/2022 359.38$       
Invoice Total 09127 6/13/2022 341.14$       
Invoice Total 09389 8/18/2022 209.13$       
Invoice Total 09619 10/12/2022 41.83$       
Invoice Total 09745 11/9/2022 352.93$       
Invoice Total 09857 12/12/2022 345.06$       
Invoice Total 09921 1/5/2023 73.20$       
Invoice Total 420295 2/16/2023 189.15$       
Invoice Total 421240 3/16/2023 66.05$       

Project Subtotal 2,214.45$        Project Subtotal 285.55$        

210265 3 2 1001 2nd Street, Kalamazoo 17,695.01$       Invoice Total 08771 3/14/2022 10,823.90$        
Invoice Total 08842 4/8/2022 3,021.18$        
Invoice Total 08978 5/10/2022 156.15$       
Invoice Total 09513 9/16/2022 1,016.80$

Project Subtotal 15,018.03$        Project Subtotal 2,676.98$       
Budget Returned 2,676.98$       

Invoice Breakdown Budget Remaining -$        
2 Phase II 12,895.00$       08771 3/14/2022 10,823.90$        

08842 4/8/2022 1,489.25$
Phase Subtotal 12,313.15$ Phase Subtotal 581.85$    

2 BEA & Due Care 4,000.00$ 08842 4/8/2022 1,531.93$
08978 5/10/2022 156.15$
09513 9/16/2022 216.80$

Phase Subtotal 1,904.88$ Phase Subtotal 2,095.12$   

1 Phase I ESA Update 800.00$ 09513 9/16/2022 800.00$
Phase Subtotal 800.00$ Phase Subtotal -$    

220128 5 2 NACD - Ransom and North St. 52,850.00$       Invoice Total 09243 7/12/2022 614.29$       
Invoice Total 09296 8/4/2022 12,499.46$        
Invoice Total 09409 9/7/2022 2,778.21$        
Invoice Total 09636 10/21/2022 4,152.64$        
Invoice Total 09663 11/3/2022 875.04$       
Invoice Total 09859 12/12/2022 3,599.99$        
Invoice Total 09924 1/5/2023 2,881.90$        
Invoice Total 421464 3/23/2023 25,002.47$        

Project Subtotal 52,404.00$        Project Subtotal 446.00$        

Invoice Breakdown
2 Soil Gas (447 W. North Street) & Vapor Pin (441 W. North St.) 11,000.00$       

09243 7/12/2022 324.13$
09296 8/4/2022 5,677.51$
09409 9/7/2022 151.63$
09636 10/21/2022 3,480.86$
09663 11/3/2022 216.34$

Phase Subtotal 9,850.47$ Phase Subtotal 1,149.53$   

2 604 N. Westnedge (Phase II, UST Site Assessment) 29,350.00$
Amendment #1 7,000.00$ 09243 7/12/2022 290.16$
Amendment #2 5,500.00$ 09296 8/4/2022 6,821.95$

41,850.00$ 09409 9/7/2022 2,626.58$
09636 10/21/2022 671.78$
09663 11/3/2022 658.70$
09859 12/12/2022 3,599.99$
09924 1/5/2023 2,881.90$
421464 3/23/2023 25,002.47$

Phase Subtotal 42,553.53$ Phase Subtotal (703.53)$   

220129 4 1 NACD - Church and Frank Street Parcels 25,000.00$ Invoice Total 09245 7/12/2022 2,597.81$
Invoice Total 09295 8/4/2022 11,669.06$
Invoice Total 09410 9/7/2022 1,959.60$
Invoice Total 09637 10/21/2022 460.06$

Project Subtotal 16,686.53$ Project Subtotal 8,313.47$   

Invoice Breakdown
1 Eligibility and Phase I ESAs 6,000.00$

09245 7/12/2022 2,443.58$
09295 8/4/2022 2,358.48$
09410 9/7/2022 1,959.60$
09637 10/21/2022 248.33$

Phase Subtotal 7,009.99$ Phase Subtotal (1,009.99)$    

2 GPR Surveys 19,000.00$
09245 7/12/2022 154.23$
09295 8/4/2022 9,310.58$
09637 10/21/2022 211.73$

Phase Subtotal 9,676.54$ Phase Subtotal 9,323.46$   

220154 6 3 Parchment Mill Site 20,000.00$       Invoice Total 09391 8/22/2022 4,442.58$        
Invoice Total 09515 9/16/2022 3,183.01$        
Invoice Total 09629 10/17/2022 1,806.40$        
Invoice Total 09673 11/4/2022 2,343.59$        
Invoice Total 09860 12/12/2022 3,865.38$        
Invoice Total 09922 1/5/2023 400.46$       
Invoice Total 420293 2/16/2023 115.95$       
Invoice Total 421241 3/16/2023 573.53$    
Invoice Total 422260* 4/13/2023 945.75$    

Project Subtotal 17,676.65$        Project Subtotal 2,323.35$       

Approved Project Budgets Subtotal 123,045.01$ Invoice Total 106,003.66$    Budgets Remaining 14,364.37$   

Estimated Contractual Budget Remaining 168,255.00$ 185,296.34$    
Check 291,300.00$

Project Budgets Returned
210265 3 2 1001 2nd Street, Kalamazoo 2,676.98$

-$
Available Contractual Budget Remaining 170,931.97$

Notes:

 Actual Contractual Budget Remaining
and un-invoiced 

Grant
Task

Number
Project

Complete Total 

 Actual  Project Budget Remaining












